FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/27/2025 4:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Case #: 1038291

AMANDA THORNEWELL, Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO.1, Defendant-Appellee.

### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Ryan P. Ford, WSBA No. 50628 Michael L. Smith, WSBA No. 57816 Attorneys for Appellant

> CEDAR LAW PLLC 113 Cherry St., PMB 96563 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 607-8277 ryan@cedarlawpllc.com mike@cedarlawpllc.com

##

### **INTRODUCTION**

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming the Trial Court's dismissal of Petitioner Amanda Thornewell's lawsuit in favor of Respondent Seattle Public Schools ("District") is contrary to statutory and decisional law relating to the Public Records Act ("PRA"). The appellate court held the District did not violate the PRA notwithstanding (a) the District affirmatively determined an inapplicable "investigation" exemption applied to a group of otherwise responsive records; (b) it withheld all such investigatory records for nearly 11 months; but (c) it never once informed Thornewell it was applying said exemption.

The appellate court's ruling is in conflict with this Court's prior decisions regarding the PRA, including *Gipson v*. *Snohomish County*, 194 Wn. 2d 365 (Wash. 2019), as well as the language and spirit of the PRA. This case also involves an issue of <u>substantial public interest</u> that should be determined by the Supreme Court, as it directly impacts our citizenry's ability to secure timely and transparent access to those agencies and

persons who serve the public. This is especially true of this case because the evidence demonstrates this is not a proverbial "one-off" matter; it is a pattern and practice, a standard operating procedure, the District employs to deprive requestors of timely and complete disclosure of and access to public records.

### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner is Amanda Thornewell, Plaintiff in the case below.

### **COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Thornewell seeks review of the Court of Appeals' November 25, 2024 unpublished ruling affirming the trial court's decision granting the District's partial motion for summary judgment and denying Thornewell's motion for summary judgment. *See Amanda Thornewell v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, No. 85998-6-I, 2024 WL 4880759. The appellate court denied Thornewell's motion for reconsideration on December 27, 2024.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the District Violate the PRA Where, Consistent with Its Standard Operating Procedure, It Internally Asserted a Legally-Inapplicable Exemption to Thornewell's March 2020 PRR, It Did Not Inform Thornewell of Such and Did Not Disclose The Existence of or Produce Said Records for Nearly a Year, But Only Did so After its Investigation Concluded?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. The Underlying Issues and the March 2020 PRR.

In January 2020, a District High School Assistant Principal confronted Thornewell's son with an armed police officer, demanding he not report on bullying and hazing amongst the swim team. (CP<sup>1</sup> 127-128 288-289, 294-312). That same month, Thornewell filed a complaint with the District's Office of Student Civil Rights ("OSCR"). (CP 288-293). At the time, Christina "Tina" Meade was the District's Student Civil Rights Compliance Officer. (CP 126-128, 132). Ms. Meade supervised

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Clerk's Papers

OSCR investigator Robert Veliz, who was assigned Thornewell's complaint. (CP 453-465, 531-534).

On March 4, 2020, Thornewell's counsel submitted a PRA request on her behalf ("March 2020 PRR") containing five requests and requesting "installments as they become *available*." (CP 541) (emphasis added).

District Public Records Officer ("PRO") Randall Enlow was the primary employee responsible for handling Thornewell's March 2020 PRR. (CP 447, 455-456, 463, 473-484). Roxane O'Connor (the District's most knowledgeable PRA attorney who advised the District on the PRA) was PRO Enlow's direct supervisor during the relevant period. (CP 455-457, 487-488, 492-495).

# B. The District determines it will not disclose nor produce responsive records due to OSCR's ongoing investigation into Thornewell's complaint.

Two days after receipt of the March 2020 PRR, PRO Enlow emailed Ms. Meade, copying Ms. O'Connor, with the March 2020 PRR stating, "[s]ee the below request. Could you

please send us anything you believe may be responsive? Any other information you believe may be relevant to assess timing/scope/others to contact would be much appreciated." (CP 457-458, 512-516). That same day, Ms. Meade responded, and copied Ms. O'Connor, who she viewed as the PRO, "[p]lease be aware that there is an open OSCR investigation based on an emailed complaint from parent, Amanda Thornewell. We need to discuss further what documents can be excluded while the investigation is ongoing." (*Id.*, CP 528-529).

By March 11, 2020, Ms. Meade was advised records related to OSCR's investigation were exempt under the PRA until the OSCR investigation was complete. (CP 457-458, 531, 536). Thus, she would not release public records responsive to Thornewell's March 2020 PRR touching on the District's OSCR investigation. (CP 457-458, 531, 536). The entire time, Ms. O'Connor and PRO Enlow knew of Ms. Meade's position on the relevant OSCR records being exempt under the PRA. (CP 457-458, 536-542).

On April 16, 2020, the District produced FERPA-related records, including references to an OSCR investigation, but made no reference to the exempted records. (CP 540, 865-866).

On May 28, 2020, Ms. O'Connor emailed PRO Enlow she "didn't see any content that I'd necessarily exempt under RCW 42.56.280" and "it might be good to connect with [the investigator] Robert Veliz." (CP 545-547). PRO Enlow emailed Mr. Veliz, copying Ms. O'Connor, inquiring whether OSCR's investigation had concluded and requesting Mr. Veliz produce all records responsive to the March 2020 PRR. (CP 515-516).

On May 29, 2020, a second installment was produced to Thornewell, without disclosing the OSCR records or the asserted exemption. (CP 539-540).

On June 1, 2020, Mr. Veliz responded to PRO Enlow:

Regarding the Thornewell case, that case is still under investigation and I have a few witness statements to obtain. It's my understanding the case cannot be accessed for public records until the investigation is concluded. Please advise if you still want access to what I have thus far on the

Thronewell [sic] case. (CP 514).

On June 2, 2020, Mr. Veliz emailed PRO Enlow, copied Ms. Meade, and stated, "[t]he [sic] Thronewell case is still under investigation and to my understanding not subject to Public Records requests until it is concluded. Please advise me if my records for this case must be provided at this time." (CP 512). PRO Enlow replied (and copied Ms. Meade and Ms. O'Connor), "[y]ou are correct the records are exempt so long as the investigation is ongoing." (CP 513; emphasis added).

That same day, PRO Enlow reiterated this determination in a separate email exchange with Ms. Meade, copying Ms. O'Connor:

As for the District's records release obligations, investigative records are indeed exempt in their entirety while the investigation is active and ongoing. Ideally, we still gather records so we can potentially review and work on them while the investigation is pending, but it also works great to get them once the investigation closes and the complainant is notified. (CP 509; emphasis added).

Thus, as of June 2, 2020, the District unequivocally internally determined and asserted the OSCR investigation records were exempt during the pendency of the investigation. (CP 509, 513).

The record is devoid of any other deliberations regarding the exemption in 2020. (CP 509, 512-513, 544-547). Yet, the District produced installments on July 23, 2020; September 17, 2020; November 12, 2020; and January 21, 2021 (CP 538-539, 918), but never once informed Thornewell of the applied investigation record exemption. (*See* CP 538-539, 778, 782, 918).

# C. Almost a year after the March 2020 PRR, the District finally disclosed and produced the OSCR investigation records only after the investigation concluded.

It is undisputed the District "postponed producing some of those records until the last two installments." *Thornewell*, No. 85998-6-I, 2024 WL 4880759 at \*2; *see also* (CP 549, 555, 558) ("38 pages of documents responsive to the Plaintiff's March 4, 2020 request were not produced due to an ongoing

investigation." (CP 555). The sixth installment was 122 pages and the seventh installment was 82 pages (CP 134, 340).

# D. The District has a practice of withholding the disclosure and production of OSCR investigation records due to ongoing investigations.

Dating back to 2016, Ms. Meade had been advised on more than one occasion by the District's public records office that records related to an ongoing investigation subject to the PRA are exempt until the investigation is concluded. (CP 458, 523-527; *see also* 529-534). She advised all investigators she supervised accordingly. *Id*.

Ms. Meade also testified, "[a]t that time [March 11, 2020] we were advised that during an open investigation, investigatory records are not subject to release until the investigation is completed." (CP 531.)

On March 17, 2021, Ms. Meade also claimed records could be withheld, which appears to have been the subject of a PRA request related to a different ongoing investigation. (CP 912, 922-924). Additionally, neither Ms. O'Connor nor PRO

Enlow made efforts to disabuse Ms. Meade of her notion that an ongoing District investigation does not automatically mean the records are exempt. (CP 134, 137-138, 249-250, 544, 865-868, 895, 912, 922-924).

# E. The courts recognized the District withheld those records based on its understanding of the ongoing investigation.

The appellate court correctly identified the District postponed producing records. *Thornewell*, No. 85998-6-I, 2024 WL 4880759 at \*2. The trial court correctly ascertained PRO Enlow had blanketly withheld records responsive to the March 2020 PRR until the OSCR investigation was completed. (RP<sup>2</sup> 22-23). PRO Enlow had an understanding in his own mind the OSCR investigative records were not subject to disclosure during the investigation, and he only changed his position after the investigation ended. (RP 23-24).

Respectfully, the appellate court incorrectly found the District's misapplication of the investigatory records exemption

-10-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Report of Proceedings

and the failure to inform Thornewell of the exemption did not result in a PRA violation. *See Thornewell*, No. 85998-6-I, 2024 WL 4880759 at \*2-6.

### **ARGUMENT**

"The stated purpose of the Public Records Act is nothing less than the preservation of the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions. RCW 42.17.251<sup>3</sup>. Without tools such as the Public Records Act, government of the people, by the people, for the people, risks becoming government of the people, by the bureaucrats, for the special interests. In the famous words of James Madison, 'A popular Government, without popular information, or the means of acquiring it, is but a Prologue to a Farce or a Tragedy; or, perhaps both.' Letter to W.T. Barry, Aug. 4, 1822, 9 *The Writings of James Madison* 103 (Gaillard Hunt,

<sup>3</sup> RCW 42.17.251 is now located at 42.56.030.

ed. 1910)." Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington, 125 Wn. 2d 243, 251 (1994) ("PAWS II").

To effectuate the PRA's purpose, the legislature declared it "shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed." RCW 42.56.030; *see also PAWS II*, 125 Wn. 2d at 251, 260. Relatedly, this Court made clear the PRA "is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records." *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn. 2d 123, 127 (Wash. 1978).

"The PRA was enacted to facilitate government transparency through the disclosure of public records." *Gipson v. Snohomish Cnty.*, 194 Wn. 2d 365, 370 (2019). "To serve the goal of transparent government, agencies are required to adopt rules and regulations that 'provide for the fullest assistance to inquirers and the most timely possible action on requests for information." *Cantu v. Yakima School Dist.*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 78 (citing RCW 42.56.100).

I. This Case is One Example of the District's Standard Operating Procedure of Impermissibly Withholding Responsive Records for the Duration of an Investigation

# Based on an Asserted Exemption, and thus Undermines Government Transparency.

Contrary to government transparency, the District implemented, and by virtue of its decision, the appellate court endorsed, the creation of a legally-evasive District standard operating procedure where (a) an agency applies an improper exemption to requested records for the duration of an investigation, (b) it fails to inform a requestor it applied said exemption, and (c) only when the agency later – here, nearly 11 months after receiving the March 2020 PRR – concludes its investigation, does it *disclose and actually* produce the records that were withheld. Such conduct completely eviscerates the clear and repeated directives that an agency must provide the fullest, most timely assistance and action under the PRA.

The appellate court's erroneous conclusion that the "District did not *assert* a public records exemption" must be corrected. *Thornewell*, No. 85998-6-I, 2024 WL 4880759 at \*1 (emphasis added). Respectfully, that is semantics. The record

demonstrates the District did "assert" an exemption because it actually applied the investigation exemption. However, it <u>never once informed</u> Thornewell nor her counsel its position was the OSCR investigation records were exempt. (CP 538-540, 778, 782, 918). Indeed, the appellate court recognized as much – "The District <u>did not tell</u> Thornewell it was refusing or denying her access to the investigation records, nor did it claim exemptions for them <u>with an exemption log</u>." *Thornewell*, 2024 WL 4880759 at \*4 (emphasis added).

The lower court elevated form over substance, because although the record demonstrates that notwithstanding the District demonstrably internally *asserting/applying* an exemption, since it did not tell Thornewell nor identify it was doing so via an exemption log, it thus far has evaded liability under the PRA.

Multiple internal communications from March 2020, May 2020, June 2020, and January 2021 demonstrate PRO Enlow affirmatively stating he was treating (read: asserting) those

records as exempt or permitting the investigators to treat them as such. (CP 457-458, 512-516). This was not an "initial" understanding, but rather a position the District held until after the close of the relevant investigation. *Id.* And that position was also in line with the District's standard operating procedure.

Dating back to 2016, Ms. Meade had been advised on more than one occasion by the District's public records office that records related to an ongoing investigation subject to the PRA were exempt until the investigation is concluded. (CP 458, 523-527). She in turn advised all investigators she supervised accordingly. *Id*.

For instance, on March 17, 2021, and regarding what appears to have been a different ongoing investigation Ms. Meade was involved in, she claimed records could be withheld. (CP 912, 922-924). Further, neither Ms. O'Connor nor PRO Enlow disabused Ms. Meade's understanding and approach. (CP 134, 137-138, 249-250, 544, 865-868, 895, 912, 922-924).

The District's conduct here, arising from its institutional approach to OSCR investigations where PRA requests are pending, fails to comply with this Court's clear directives in *Gipson*. "With any request, the receiving agency determines any applicable exemptions at the time the request is received." *Gipson* at 372 (emphasis in original). This Court stated, "Thus, we hold that a records request is satisfied when an agency receives a public records request, identifies a legitimate exemption under the PRA *at that time*, and clearly notifies the requester that the request will be treated in accordance with that exemption." *Id.* at 374 (emphasis in original).

The District violated this Court's holding in *Gipson*. It did not identify a "legitimate exemption under the PRA at [the] time it received" Thornewell's request because first, no such legitimate exemption applied, and second, the District could have made such a determination had the responsible personnel actually secured and reviewed the records held by the OSCR staff at the time when they were specifically made aware of their

existence. It did not do so because the District had a pattern and practice of assuming the investigative exemption applied while not disclosing the existence of, let alone producing, such records to a requestor for the duration of an OSCR investigation.

Further, the District never notified "the requester that the request will be treated in accordance with that exemption," as it failed to inform Thornewell at any time the District had applied an exemption, thus depriving her of the ability to review and contest the asserted exemption.

The foregoing shows that Thornewell's position does <u>not</u> disregard the plain language of RCW 42.56.520(2), as the appellate court contends. *Thornewell*, 2024 WL 4880759 at \*3. RCW 42.56.520(2) (cited by *Thornewell* with emphasis added therein) reads:

Additional time required to respond to a request may be based upon the need to clarify the intent of the request, to locate and assemble the information requested, to notify third persons or agencies affected by the request, or to determine whether any of the information requested is exempt and that a denial should be made as to all or part of the request.

As the record demonstrates, the District did actually determine, albeit erroneously, that the requested information was exempt, but did not inform Thornewell of such; the additional "time" of nearly 11 months from receipt of the 2020 PRR to when the OSCR records were produced was unnecessary and violative of law. To allow the District's conduct to go without consequence contradicts not only the above statute, but also the spirit of the PRA.

The District's acts run counter to the PRA's strongly-worded mandate and imperils the tenets of ensuring open and transparent government. This is an opportunity for this Court to address the Court of Appeals weakening of the people's right to access and hold accountable their governmental officials through the PRA.

# II. The District Failed to Diligently Disclose the Existence of and to Produce the Non-Exempt Records

The lower court recognized that the District erroneously withheld the records at issue because of its misapplication of the exemption under RCW 42.56.250(6). *Thornewell*, 2024 WL 4880759 at \*2; *see also* (CP 549, 558). The District's lack of diligence is also implicated here. Failure to diligently respond to a request is unreasonable and amounts to a PRA violation. *Cantu v. Yakima School Dist. No.* 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 88, 94 (2022).

Again, "The PRA requires agencies to 'provide for the fullest assistance to inquirers and the most timely ... action on requests for information.'..." *Gipson*, 194 Wn. 2d at 370; Agencies "are required to comply with the principles embodied in RCW 42.56.100". *Freedom Found. v. Wash. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 654, 673 (2019) (citations omitted).

The court recognized that Thornewell took issue with the timeliness of District installments 6 and 7. *Thornewell*, WL 4880759 at \*2. Only *after* the investigation ended, and consistent with its practice in such matters, did the District work on

producing those records and "discovered" its misapplication of the exemption. (CP 544, 906). It was only then that the District *released* the erroneously-withheld records in February 2021. (CP 134).

Had the District provided "the fullest assistance to [Thornewell] and the most timely possible action on the request for information," it would have at the least *disclosed* the existence of said records via an exemption log at the time it asserted an exemption, or *provided* those records as soon as they became available – all of which was well before it produced the records nearly 11 months after receiving Thornewell's March 2020 PRR. *See* RCW 42.56.100. The District did neither.

The appellate court's ruling disregards the concerns in *Gipson*. First, "assessing a request on the day it is received 'insured the people's prompt efficient access to public records' .... When receiving a request, the agency must identify responsive documents and any applicable exemptions and estimate the time for response. Requiring the agency to

continuously reevaluate a request to determine whether their original assessment regarding exemptions is still correct will only delay the production of the records request." *Gipson*, 194 Wn. 2d at 374.

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