FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/17/2025 1:24 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1038291

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMANDA THORNEWELL, individual

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1,

Defendant-Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Charles P.E. Leitch, WSBA No. 25443 Jason A. Burt, WSBA No. 51145 Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

PATTERSON BUCHANAN FOBES & LEITCH, INC., PS

1000 Second Ave., 30th floor Seattle, WA 98104 Tel. 206.462.6700

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

it was not going to produce the OSCR Records. CP 224–233, 256–258, 864–869.

Instead, while Mrs. Thornewell's request was still open, Mr. Enlow reviewed the OSCR Records, determined that no exemption applied, and then produced all remaining responsive records to Mrs. Thornewell before closing her PRR on February 26, 2021. *Id.* Thus, over the course of the District's response to her PRR, it never applied an exemption to or otherwise withheld the OSCR Records from Mrs. Thornewell. *Id.*

II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Seattle School District No. 1 is the respondent in this case and defendant below.

III. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court Should Deny Review Because the Court of Appeals' Decision that the PRA Does Not Require an Agency to Identify and Determine the Applicability of All Exemptions the Day It Receives a PRA Request is Consistent with Case Law and the Language of the PRA?
- 2. Whether the Court Should Deny Review Because an Agency Producing All Records Responsive to a Voluminous PRA Request in Regular, Timely

Installments Before Closing the Request Does Not Implicate a Substantial Public Interest?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. The District Produced All Records Related to Its OSCR Investigation in Response to Mrs. Thornewell's March 4, 2020 Public Records Request Before Closing It on February 26, 2021.
 - 1. On March 4, 2020, Mrs. Thornewell Submitted her PRR to the District.

On March 4, 2020, attorney Chris Williams submitted a

PRR to the District on behalf of his client, Mrs. Thornewell.

CP 232. The PRR sought five categories of records:

[Category 1] All records, including recordings and text messages or any other communication method being utilized by staff (please interpret all requests here to encompass these options), related to investigations by the Office of Student Civil Rights regarding allegations of and by Alex Thornewell and his parents Amanda and Peter Thornewell.

[Category 2] Records related to any investigation focusing on incidents related to the Garfield Swim Team during the 2019-2020 school year. Athletic Director Carole Lynch was believed to have initiated an investigation, but this request is not limited solely to her records.

[Category 3] Any communications or notes of such between Tim Zimmerman and Greg Barnes of Garfield High School since December 1, 2019.

[Category 4] Any communications between Garfield High School administration and its school newspaper related to any story about the swim team or hazing during the 2019-2020 school year.

[Category 5] Any emails or messaging system records (text, What's App, etc.) mentioning or referring to Alex Thornewell or his parents since December 1, 2019.

Id.

Mr. Williams's email was the sole communication containing Mrs. Thornewell's preferences for processing her PRR. CP 224–33, 864–869. The only guidance Mr. Williams provided was that they prefer "electronic productions in installments *as they become available*." CP 232 (emphasis added); *see also* 864–869.

2. On March 11, 2020, the District Timely Responded to Mrs. Thornewell's PRR.

On March 11, 2020, within five business days of receiving the PRR, Mr. Enlow responded to Mr. Williams, as required by RCW 42.56.520, by acknowledging receipt of the PRR and

indicating that Mr. Williams would receive an installment of records no later than May 29, 2020. CP 231.

Mr. Enlow also informed Mr. Williams that the District would provide student records responsive to Mrs. Thornewell's request to him within the 45 days required by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act ("FERPA"). *Id*.

3. The District Produced Seven Installments Between May 29, 2020, and February 26, 2021, and after each Production Provided Mrs. Thornewell with a Reasonable Estimate of Time for the Next Installment.

In total, the District produced seven installments of records responsive to Mrs. Thornewell's request before closing it. Mrs. Thornewell received installments, through her attorney, on May 29, 2020, July 23, 2020, September 17, 2020, November 12, 2020, January 21, 2021, February 10, 2021, and February 26, 2021, at which point Mr. Enlow closed the request. CP 224–233.

The seven installments totaled 1,801 pages of records, of which the OSCR investigation records at issue here comprised

38 pages. CP 257, 555–558. The District delivered each installment exactly on the schedule conveyed to Mr. Williams by Mr. Enlow in the previous installment's communication. CP 224–233. And at no time did Mr. Williams or Mrs. Thornewell object to or take issue with the estimated schedule or the records received. *Id*.

- B. The District Processed Mrs. Thornewell's PRR, Including Deliberating the Application of Exemptions, Diligently and with a Degree of Thoroughness Contemplated by and in Compliance with the PRA.
 - 1. The District Promptly Began Internal Deliberations Related to Whether Any Exemptions Applied to Responsive Records, Including OSCR Investigation Records Responsive to Category 1 of Mrs. Thornewell's Request.

On March 6, 2020, Mr. Enlow emailed then-Director of OSCR, Tina Meade, requesting that she provide him with any records she believed may be responsive to Mrs. Thornewell's request. CP 515. Ms. Meade responded to Mr. Enlow by advising him that OSCR was conducting an investigation based on a Harassment, Intimidation, and Bullying ("HIB") complaint from Mrs. Thornewell (see Category 1), and they needed to

"discuss further what documents can be excluded while the investigation is ongoing." *Id*.

On March 11, 2020, Robin Wyman, Senior Legal Assistant/Office Manager for the District's Office of Legal Counsel, emailed Ms. Meade asking her to send records regarding Mrs. Thornewell's son as part of the District's response to Mrs. Thornewell's PRR. CP 536. Ms. Meade responded that there was an open OSCR investigation, and she did not believe the records were required to be released due to the investigation. *Id*.

2. Despite the District's Initial Deliberations Related to the Potential Application of an Exemption, the District Produced Several Emails Related to OSCR's Investigation on April 16, 2020.

The District made an initial production of responsive records on April 16, 2020, pursuant to FERPA's requirement that student records need to be produced within 45 days. CP 865–866. Many of the records produced in this initial production were emails related to OSCR's investigation into Mrs. Thornewell's HIB Complaint. *Id*.

3. The District Continued Internally Deliberating Whether an Exemption Applied to the OSCR Records While Producing Timely, Regular Installments of Other Responsive Records.

On May 28, 2020, Roxane O'Connor, Assistant Legal Counsel for the District and Mr. Enlow's supervisor, emailed Mr. Enlow discussing her review of responsive records. CP 545–547. Ms. O'Connor stated, "I didn't see any content that I'd necessarily exempt," and "it might be good to connect with Robert Veliz," District Investigator at the time. *Id*.

Later that day, Mr. Enlow emailed Mr. Veliz asking about the status of the Thornewell investigation and to provide "any investigation files and other responsive documents" Mr. Veliz had. CP 513–515. Mr. Veliz responded on June 1, 2020, telling Mr. Enlow that the investigation was still ongoing and asked if Mr. Enlow still wanted his investigation materials. *Id*.

Over the next few days, Mr. Enlow and Mr. Veliz continued discussing the investigation records. *Id.* Mr. Veliz told Mr. Enlow that it was his understanding that records related to ongoing investigations were not subject to PRR. *Id.*

Mr. Enlow responded, "You are correct the records are exempt so long as the investigation is ongoing." *Id.* Despite Mr. Enlow's opinion at the time, however, he told Mr. Veliz that it is ideal for him to "get records earlier so we can potentially work to have redactions ready sooner after the investigation concludes," though he did say that Mr. Veliz could send them after the investigation is complete. *Id.*

During this time, Mr. Enlow conveyed a similar sentiment to Ms. Meade. CP 509.

4. The District Finished Its Deliberation and Determined that the Ongoing Investigatory Records Exemption Did Not Apply to OSCR Records.

On January 20, 2021, Mr. Enlow emailed Ms. O'Connor to discuss the remaining items still needed to review. CP 544. Ms. O'Connor responded, stating that she thought the applicable exemption might be RCW 42.56.280 because Mrs. Thornewell's complaint is not a "complaint that falls under RCW 42.56.250(6)," and she was still debating "the potential need for an exemption log." *Id.* Based on Ms. O'Connor's

correction, Mr. Enlow determined that no exemption applied to the OSCR Records, and on February 10, 2021, the District produced any remaining OSCR Records in Installment Six. CP 226, 256–258, 864–869.

5. At No Time Did the District Inform Mrs. Thornewell that It Was Applying an Exemption or Otherwise Denying Her Access to the OSCR Records, and It Produced All Responsive Records Before Closing Her Request.

The District never applied the exemption to the OSCR records or withheld them pursuant to the PRA. CP 224–233, 256–258, 864–869. Mr. Enlow's initial consideration never developed beyond in-house, informal communications as part of the routine process of gathering potentially responsive records to respond to Mrs. Thornewell's PRR. CP 513–516, 536, 544–547. Mr. Enlow never communicated the potential applicability of an exemption to the OSCR Records to Mr. Williams or Mrs. Thornewell. CP 224–233, 256–258. Further, between March 6, 2020, through February 10, 2021, Mr. Enlow never communicated or otherwise indicated to Mr. Williams

that the District would not produce records responsive to Category 1 of Mrs. Thornewell's PRR. *Id.*

Notably, while the District internally discussed whether an exemption applied to the OSCR Records, Mr. Enlow continued to diligently work on the District's response to Mrs. Thornewell's PRR and delivered to Mr. Williams installments one through five, with no objections or issues from Mr. Williams about the installments. CP 256–258, 864–869. To the contrary, Mr. Williams repeatedly expressed his thanks and appreciation to Mr. Enlow for Mr. Enlow's efforts responding to Mrs. Thornewell's PRR. CP 224–233.

C. The Trial Court Dismissed Mrs. Thornewell's Complaint Alleging a PRA Violation Because the District Did Not Wrongfully Withold Any Responsive Records to Mrs. Thornewell's PRR.

The Honorable Cindi Port presided over the hearing for the parties' respective motions for summary judgment and Mrs. Thornewell's motion for reconsideration. RP 1, 49. Judge Port found in favor of the District's motion for summary judgment and denied Mrs. Thornewell's motion. *Id*.

Judge Port reasoned that "there were no records that were not produced," which quashed any need for an exemption log, based on the following reasons:

- (1) the District is "afforded the latitude to prioritize,"
- (2) "there is no other objection by [Mrs. Thornewell] as to the timeliness of the records except for" Installment Six, and
- (3) although Installment Six "was delayed by an initial misunderstanding of the exception" that may have applied, the District produced all of the records.

Id.

In addition, Judge Port found that the facts did not support a finding of constructive denial because "the records were ultimately produced." *Id.* Similarly, Judge Port did not find the delay to constitute a silent withholding, in part, "because the records were ultimately produced and there was no need for a privilege log." *Id.* Judge Port also determined that there is no silent withholding in "a fact pattern where the plaintiff is not objecting to the timeliness of the rest of the

records and there was no specific prioritization request by the plaintiff and then the Department is then left to prioritize how to process the overarching records that were requested." RP 43–44.

D. The Court of Appeals, Division 1, Affirmed the Trial Court's Decision, Finding that the District Neither Asserted an Exemption nor Withheld Responsive Records.

The Court of Appeals, Division 1 ("Division 1"), affirmed the trial court's decision "[b]ecause the District did not assert a public records exemption, answered Thornewell's request with diligence, and produced all responsive records." *Thornewell v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 85998-6-I, 2024 WL 4880759, at *1 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 25, 2024).

1. Mrs. Thornewell's interpretation mischaracterizes the holding in *Gipson v. Snohomish County*, 194 Wn.2d 365, 372, 449 P.3d 1055 (2019).

Division 1 explained that the issue in *Gipson* was "whether a properly applied exemption, which was valid on the date that the request was made, continued to be in effect throughout the life of the request, even as the agency produced

record installments, some of which postdated the exemption's expiration." *Id.* at *3. Accordingly, Division 1 determined the Court in *Gipson* held that an "agency determines the applicability of an exemption by asking whether a record is exempt on the date of the request." *Id.* It does not, however, "mean that the agency must make the determination that day nor eliminate the contemplation of the PRA that the agency is afforded a reasonable time in which to respond, provided it does so timely and with diligence." *Id.*

Therefore, Division 1 determined that the District met its initial obligation under the PRA when it responded to Mrs. Thornewell's request within five business days and provided a reasonable estimate for the production of responsive records. *Id.*

2. The District produced the investigation records before closing the request and without claiming an exemption.

Under RCW 42.56.210(3), an agency refusing to allow the inspection of any public records must "include a statement

of the specific exemption authorizing the withholding of the records (or part) and a brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the record withheld." *Id.* at *4 (internal quotes omitted) (quoting RCW 42.56.210(3)). An agency does not deny access to records it has not produced in installments unless it communicates that it is refusing to produce them and finishes producing all other responsive records. *Id.* (quoting *Freedom Found. v. WA State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 654, 664, 445 P.3d 971 (2019); *Cortland v. Lewis Cnty.*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 249, 258, 473 P.3d 272 (2020)).

Applying the rulings in *Freedom Found* and *Courtland*, Division 1 found that the District was not obligated to provide a statement and explanation:

The District was in the process of producing installments for Thornewell from March 2020 until February 2021. It provided exemption logs for other records included in the request. It produced the investigation records before closing the request, and without ever claiming an exemption for them. The District did not tell Thornewell it was refusing or denying her access to the investigation records, nor did it claim exemptions

for them with an exemption log. Because it produced responsive records within a reasonable time, the District did not assert an exemption. And because the District did not withhold records, or apply an exemption, it was not obligated to provide a statement and explanation for investigative records under RCW 42.56.210(3).

 $Id.^2$

V. ARGUMENT

When an appellant seeks discretionary review of a decision terminating review—like here—review is appropriate only for the following reasons:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4.

² Mrs. Thornewell quotes a small portion of this paragraph out of context.

Here, Mrs. Thornewell raises only two justifications for review—an alleged conflict with the Court's ruling in *Gipson* and assertion that this matter involves a substantial public interest. See Brief of Appellant, p. 1. However, Mrs. Thornewell fails to demonstrate that Division 1's ruling either conflicts with any of this Court's prior decisions or presents an issue of substantial public interest to warrant discretionary review, and therefore, the Court should deny her Petition for Discretionary Review.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of the Washington Supreme Court.

Mrs. Thornewell's interpretation of *Gipson*—not Division 1's decision—conflicts with the Court's holding in *Gipson*. *Thornewell*, 2024 WL 4880759, at *3. As Division 1 stated, Mrs. Thornwell's contention "mischaracterizes the holding of *Gipson* and disregards the plain language of RCW 42.56.520(2)." *Id*.

According to Mrs. Thornewell, *Gipson* stands for the position that an agency must identify and determine the

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